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(2) The amount of time that has
elapsed since the prior notification(s);

(3) The likelihood that a follow-up
notification will increase the number
of vehicles or items of equipment re-
ceiving the remedy;

(4) The seriousness of the safety risk
from the defect or noncompliance;

(5) Whether the prior notification(s)
undertaken by the manufacturer com-
plied with the requirements of the stat-
ute and regulations; and

(6) Such other factors as are con-
sistent with the purpose of the statute.

(c) A manufacturer shall be required
to provide a follow-up notification
under this section only with respect to
vehicles or items of equipment that
have not been returned for remedy pur-
suant to the prior notification(s).

(d) Except where the Administrator
determines otherwise, the follow-up no-
tification shall be sent to the same cat-
egories of recipients that received the
prior notification(s).

(e) A follow-up notification must in-
clude:

(1) A statement that identifies it as a
follow-up to an earlier communication;

(2) A statement urging the recipient
to present the vehicle or item of equip-
ment for remedy; and

(3) Except as determined by the Ad-
ministrator, the information required
to be included in the initial notifica-
tion.

(f) The manufacturer shall mark the
outside of each envelope in which it
sends a follow-up notification in a
manner which meets the requirements
of § 577.5(a) of this part.

(g) Notwithstanding any other provi-
sion of this part, the Administrator
may authorize the use of other media
besides first-class mail for a follow-up
notification.

[60 FR 17272, Apr. 5, 1995]

PART 578—CIVIL PENALTIES

Sec.
578.1 Scope.
578.2 Purpose.
578.3 Applicability.
578.4 Definitions.
578.5 Inflationary adjustment of civil pen-

alties.
578.6 Civil penalties for violations of speci-

fied provisions of Title 49 of the United
States Code.

AUTHORITY: 49 U.S.C. 30165, 30505, 32308,
32309, 32507, 32709, 32710, 32912, and 33115; Pub.
L. 101–410, 104 Stat. 890; Pub. L. 104–134, 110
Stat. 1372; delegation of authority at 49 CFR
1.50.

SOURCE: 62 FR 5169, Feb. 4, 1997, unless oth-
erwise noted.

§ 578.1 Scope.
This part specifies the civil penalties

for violations of statutes administered
by the National Highway Traffic Safe-
ty Administration, as adjusted for in-
flation.

§ 578.2 Purpose.
The purpose of this part is to pre-

serve the remedial impact of civil pen-
alties and to foster compliance with
the law by specifying the civil pen-
alties for statutory violations, as ad-
justed for inflation.

§ 578.3 Applicability.
This part applies to civil penalties

for violations of Chapters 301, 305, 323,
325, 327, 329, and 331 of Title 49 of the
United States Code.

§ 578.4 Definitions.
All terms used in this part that are

defined in sections 30102, 30501, 32101,
32702, 32901, and 33101 of Title 49 of the
United States Code are used as defined
in the appropriate statute.

Administrator means the Adminis-
trator of the National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration.

Civil penalty means any penalty, fine,
or other sanction that:

(1) Is for a specific monetary amount
as provided by Federal law, or has a
maximum amount provided for by Fed-
eral law; and

(2) Is assessed, compromised, col-
lected, or enforced by NHTSA pursuant
to Federal law.

NHTSA means the National Highway
Traffic Safety Administration.

§ 578.5 Inflationary adjustment of civil
penalties.

The civil penalties set forth in this
part continue in effect until adjusted
by the Administrator. At least once
every four years, the Administrator
shall review the amount of these civil
penalties and will, if appropriate, ad-
just them by rule.
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§ 578.6 Civil penalties for violations of
specified provisions of Title 49 of
the United States Code.

(a) Motor vehicle safety. A person that
violates any of sections 30112, 30115,
30117–30122, 30123(d), 30125(c), 30127,
30141–30147, or 30166 of Title 49 of the
United States Code or a regulation pre-
scribed under any of those sections is
liable to the United States Government
for a civil penalty of not more than
$1,100 for each violation. A separate
violation occurs for each motor vehicle
or item of motor vehicle equipment
and for each failure or refusal to allow
or perform an act required by any of
those sections. The maximum civil
penalty under this paragraph for a re-
lated series of violations is $925,000.

(b) National Automobile Title Informa-
tion System. An individual or entity vio-
lating 49 U.S.C. Chapter 305 is liable to
the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $1,100 for
each violation.

(c) Bumper standards. (1) A person
that violates 49 U.S.C. § 32506(a) is lia-
ble to the United States Government
for a civil penalty of not more than
$1,100 for each violation. A separate
violation occurs for each passenger
motor vehicle or item of passenger
motor vehicle equipment involved in a
violation of 49 U.S.C. 32506(a)(1) or (4)—

(i) That does not comply with a
standard prescribed under 49 U.S.C.
32502, or

(ii) For which a certificate is not pro-
vided, or for which a false or mis-
leading certificate is provided, under 49
U.S.C. 32504.

(2) The maximum civil penalty under
this paragraph (c) for a related series of
violations is $925,000.

(d) Consumer information regarding
crashworthiness and damage suscepti-
bility. A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
32308(a) is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not
more than $1,100 for each violation.
Each failure to provide information or
comply with a regulation in violation
of 49 U.S.C. 32308(a) is a separate viola-
tion. The maximum penalty under this
paragraph for a related series of viola-
tions is $450,000.

(e) Country of origin content labeling.
A manufacturer of a passenger motor
vehicle distributed in commerce for

sale in the United States that willfully
fails to attach the label required under
49 U.S.C. 32304 to a new passenger
motor vehicle that the manufacturer
manufactures or imports, or a dealer
that fails to maintain that label as re-
quired under 49 U.S.C. 32304, is liable to
the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $1,100 for
each violation. Each failure to attach
or maintain that label for each vehicle
is a separate violation.

(f) Odometer tampering and disclosure.
(1) A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
Chapter 327 or a regulation prescribed
or order issued thereunder is liable to
the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $2,200 for
each violation. A separate violation oc-
curs for each motor vehicle or device
involved in the violation. The max-
imum civil penalty under this para-
graph for a related series of violations
is $110,000.

(2) A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
Chapter 327 or a regulation prescribed
or order issued thereunder, with intent
to defraud, is liable for three times the
actual damages or $2,000, whichever is
greater.

(g) Vehicle theft protection. (1) A per-
son that violates 49 U.S.C. 33114(a)(1)-
(4) is liable to the United States Gov-
ernment for a civil penalty of not more
than $1,100 for each violation. The fail-
ure of more than one part of a single
motor vehicle to conform to an appli-
cable standard under 49 U.S.C. 33102 or
33103 is only a single violation. The
maximum penalty under this para-
graph on for a related series of viola-
tions is $275,000.

(2) A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
33114(a)(5) is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not
more than $110,000 a day for each viola-
tion.

(h) Automobile fuel economy. (1) A per-
son that violates 49 U.S.C. 32911(a) is
liable to the United States Government
for a civil penalty of not more than
$11,000 for each violation. A separate
violation occurs for each day the viola-
tion continues.

(2) Except as provided in 49 U.S.C.
32912(c), a manufacturer that violates a
standard prescribed for a model year
under 49 U.S.C. 32902 is liable to the
United States Government for a civil
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penalty of $5.50 multiplied by each .1 of
a mile a gallon by which the applicable
average fuel economy standard under
that section exceeds the average fuel
economy—

(i) Calculated under 49 U.S.C.
32904(a)(1)(A) or (B) for automobiles to
which the standard applies manufac-
tured by the manufacturer during the
model year;

(ii) Multiplied by the number of those
automobiles; and

(iii) Reduced by the credits available
to the manufacturer under 49 U.S.C.
32903 for the model year.

[62 FR 5169, Feb. 4, 1997, as amended at 64 FR
37878, July 14, 1999]

PART 579—DEFECT AND
NONCOMPLIANCE RESPONSIBILITY

Sec.
579.1 Scope.
579.2 Purpose.
579.3 Application.
579.4 Definitions.
579.5 Defect and noncompliance responsi-

bility.

AUTHORITY: Secs. 103, 108, 112, 113, Pub. L.
89–563, 80 Stat. 718; sec. 102, Pub. L. 93–492, 88
Stat. 1470 (15 U.S.C. 1392, 1397, 1401, 1411–1420;
delegation of authority at 49 CFR 1.50).

SOURCE: 43 FR 38833, Aug. 31, 1978, unless
otherwise noted.

§ 579.1 Scope.

This part sets forth the responsibil-
ities under Part B of the Act of manu-
facturers for safety-related defects and
noncompliances with Federal motor
vehicle safety standards in motor vehi-
cles and items of motor vehicle equip-
ment.

§ 579.2 Purpose.

The purpose of this part is to facili-
tate the notification of owners of de-
fective and noncomplying motor vehi-
cles and items of motor vehicle equip-
ment, and the remedy of defective and
noncomplying vehicles and items of
equipment, by equitably reappor-
tioning the responsibility for safety-re-
lated defects and noncompliances with
Federal motor vehicle safety standards
among manufacturers of motor vehi-
cles and motor vehicle equipment.

§ 579.3 Application.
This part applies to all manufactur-

ers of motor vehicles and motor vehicle
equipment.

§ 579.4 Definitions.
(a) Original equipment means an item

of motor vehicle equipment (other than
a tire) which was installed in or on a
motor vehicle at the time of its deliv-
ery to the first purchaser if—

(1) The item of equipment was in-
stalled on or in the motor vehicle at
the time of its delivery to a dealer or
distributor for distribution; or

(2) The item of equipment was in-
stalled by the dealer or distributor
with the express authorization of the
motor vehicle manufacturer.

(b) Replacement equipment means—
(1) Motor vehicle equipment other

than original equipment as defined in
paragraph (a) of this section; and

(2) Tires.
(c) The Act means the National Traf-

fic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act of
1966, as amended.

§ 579.5 Defect and noncompliance re-
sponsibility.

(a) Each manufacturer of a motor ve-
hicle shall be responsible for any safe-
ty-related defect or any noncompliance
determined to exist in the vehicle or in
any item of original equipment.

(b) Each manufacturer of an item of
replacement equipment shall be re-
sponsible for any safety-related defect
or any noncompliance determined to
exist in the equipment.

PART 580—ODOMETER DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS

Sec.
580.1 Scope.
580.2 Purpose.
580.3 Definitions.
580.4 Security of title documents and power

of attorney forms.
580.5 Disclosure of odometer information.
580.6 [Reserved]
580.7 Disclosure of odometer information

for leased motor vehicles.
580.8 Odometer disclosure statement reten-

tion.
580.9 Odometer record retention for auction

companies.
580.10 Application for assistance.
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